IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-554

(Lower Tribunal Case No. 3D09-3427)

PEDRO J. GARCIA, AS PROPERTY APPRAISER OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,

Petitioner,

VS.

DAVID ANDONIE AND ANA L. ANDONIE; AND LISA ECHEVERRI, AS EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

R. A. CUEVAS, JR.
MIAMI-DADE COUNTY ATTORNEY
Stephen P. Clark Center, Suite 2810
111 N.W. 1st Street
Miami, Florida 33128

Telephone: (305) 375-5151 Facsimile: (305) 375-5611

By: Melinda S. Thornton

Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 261262

INTRODUCTION

This Court is being asked to determine, as a matter of law – and in the specific context of the homestead exemption from ad valorem taxation – whether minor children can be considered "permanent residents" of Florida, if their parents are not. This Initial Brief on the Merits is filed by Petitioner Pedro J. Garcia, the current Miami-Dade County Property Appraiser ("Property Appraiser")¹, whose office denied the 2006 tax year application for homestead exemption.

Petitioner will be referred to as "Property Appraiser." Respondents David and Ana Andonie will be referred to as "Andonies" or "Taxpayers." Lisa Echeverri, in her official capacity as the Executive Director of the Florida Department of Revenue, will be referred to as "DOR."

References to "homestead exemption" are to the homestead exemption from ad valorem taxation, unless otherwise indicated. The real property which is the subject of this dispute may be referred to as "subject property."

The Appendix to this Initial Brief has been filed separately. It will be referred to as (App. Ex.__: pg__), and includes, in addition to the conformed copy of the Third District's decision, only those portions of the record relevant to the factual background of the case.

_ 1 _

¹ This case has been restyled to reflect the name of the current Property Appraiser.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Nature of Case, Course of Proceedings, and Factual Background

Property Appraiser challenges the lower court's ruling that Taxpayers David and Ana Andonie were entitled to a homestead exemption from ad valorem taxation for the 2006 tax year. The material facts are undisputed and based on:

a) documentation presented by Taxpayers to Property Appraiser, which is attached to the affidavit of Property Appraiser supervisor Angela Neumann (App. B:1-10), and b) David Andonie's affidavit, both submitted during the summary judgment proceedings before the trial court. (App. C:1-2).

The Andonies purchased the subject property, a condominium in Key Biscayne, Florida, in 2003. (App. B:9). The Property Appraiser assessed the subject property at a value of \$1,090,410 for the 2006 tax year. (App. D:1).

The Andonies first applied for a homestead exemption for the 2006 tax year. (App. B:9-10). On the application was the handwritten statement: "[m]y children are US Citizens, aged 7, 12 and 14 living at this address and are legally and naturally dependent on me, thereby qualifying the property for the homestead exemption." (App. B:9). In support of their application, Taxpayers submitted the birth certificates of their three children, born in Miami in 1992, 1993 and 1999. (App. B:6-8).

Property Appraiser denied the Andonies' application for homestead exemption on the ground that "they did not satisfy the requirements of Florida Statute Section 196.031." (App. B:4). Specifically, the Andonies had not established that they were permanent residents of Florida, as required by law.

As of the January 1, 2006, taxing date, David and Ana Andonie were citizens of Honduras, and were in the United States pursuant to an E-2 Investor Visa, a temporary visa issued by the United States government. (App. B:5). David Andonie's affidavit confirmed that "...my wife and I do not claim the right to homestead exemption based on our permanent residence at this location, but upon the fact that our three minor children, who are naturally and legally dependent upon my wife and me, live here on the subject property." (App. C:1).²

Andonies filed a petition with the Miami-Dade County Value Adjustment Board ("V.A.B.") contesting the denial of the homestead exemption. The V.A.B.

_

The Property Appraiser's Initial Brief before the Third District contains additional factual background regarding the immigration status of the Taxpayers. However, the parties acknowledge, as does the Third District, that "[i]t is undisputed that David and Ana Andonie are legally incapable of qualifying as 'permanent residents' of Miami-Dade County." *Saiz de la Mora v. Andonie*, 51 So. 3d 517, 519 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010) (citing as authority *Juarrero v. McNayr*, 157 So. 2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1963); *DeQuervain v. Desguin*, 927 So. 2d 232, 235 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006); *Alcime v. Bystrom*, 451 So. 2d 1037 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984)); therefore, the additional facts are not set forth herein.

Special Magistrate granted the homestead exemption, finding, "owner father not permanent resident, but children are legal residents." (App. D:1).

Disposition in the Courts Below

Pursuant to Sections 194.036 and 194.171, Florida Statutes, Property Appraiser filed an action in the circuit court to contest the V.A.B.'s granting of the homestead exemption for the 2006 tax year. As provided in Section 194.036(3), Florida Statutes, the lower court proceedings were litigated *de novo*. The defendants included the Taxpayers, as well as DOR, a nominal party joined pursuant to Section 194.181(5), Florida Statutes.

Property Appraiser filed his Motion for Summary Judgment, and, in conjunction therewith, filed the affidavit of Angela Neumann, with the attached documentation from the Taxpayers. (App. B:1-10). The Property Appraiser's position was that the Andonies were not permanent residents of the United States; therefore, they were unable to show, as a matter of law, the requisite permanent residence, either for themselves or their minor children.

In opposition, Taxpayers filed the affidavit of David Andonie (App. C:1-2). He stated therein that he was basing his claim of entitlement to exemption on his ownership of the subject property and the "status of my children, as U.S. Citizens legally and naturally dependent on my wife and myself." (App. C:2).

After argument was heard on the merits, Andonies' counsel made an *ore* tenus cross motion for summary judgment, over the objection of Property Appraiser's counsel. At the conclusion of the hearing, the lower court entered a handwritten Order granting relief to the Andonies. (App. E:1). The court deemed

the matter to be

a case of first impression addressing the issue of entitlement *vel non* to homestead exemption from ad valorem property tax where owners of property are foreign nationals not permanent residents of Florida or of the U.S. and minor U.S. born children naturally dependent on owner live on the property.

Property Appraiser appealed the lower court's ruling to the Third District.

During the appellate proceedings, the Third District granted DOR's request to realign its position with that of Property Appraiser.

The Third District affirmed, holding that even though the Respondents, as the property owners, could not establish that they were permanent residents, they could establish that their property was the permanent residence of their minor children. The court therefore ruled that the Andonies could obtain the homestead exemption. *Saiz de la Mora v. Andonie*, 51 So. 3d 517, 524-525 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010).

The Third District's opinion noted the court's assumption that DOR, which filed its own brief and whose counsel did not appear at oral argument, found

Property Appraiser's "arguments to be unmeritorious." *Andonie* at 522, n.7. However, an examination of DOR's brief reveals an adoption of all the substantive arguments made by Property Appraiser.³ Further, as stated by undersigned counsel for Property Appraiser at the commencement of oral argument, DOR chose not to appear and to instead cede its time to Property Appraiser.⁴

Property Appraiser and DOR each timely filed a Motion for Certification of a question of great public importance, and of direct conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal. The Third District denied the Motion for Certification.

Property Appraiser timely filed a combined Notice of Appeal and Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court, pursuant to Rule 9.030, subsections (a)(1)(A)(ii) and (a)(2)(A)(ii), (iii), and (iv), Fla. R. App. P. This Court accepted jurisdiction of this case on June 30, 2011. Specifically, the Court

_

The only point of disagreement between DOR and Property Appraiser was DOR's request for remand so that a finding could be made by the trial court as to whether the Andonies' minor children were "permanent residents" for purposes of Chapter 196, Florida Statutes. Counsel for both Property Appraiser and, at oral argument, Taxpayers, agreed that the relevant undisputed facts pertaining to the Andonies and their children as contained in the record were sufficient to enable the Third District to apply them to the legal issue of permanent residency. Therefore, remand was unnecessary. *See Bacardi v. De Lindzon*, 728 So. 2d 309, 312 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), *decision approved*, 845 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 2007).

⁴ By operation of Rule 9.020(g)(4), Fla. R. App. P., DOR is considered a Respondent in the proceedings before this Court, as it did not separately seek review of the Third District's opinion.

has indicated that it wishes to review Property Appraiser's position that the Third District's decision: a) invalidates a portion of the ad valorem taxation homestead exemption and b) expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case concerns only the taxation of residential real estate. It is important that this context not be forgotten, as this case does not concern the authority of foreign nationals to own property in Florida, or to receive benefits for which they may qualify, or to care for their children as they see fit. While Respondents' property tax bill may be impacted slightly by this Court's decision, nothing about this case will affect them personally, or their relationship with their children.

Florida's homestead exemption from ad valorem taxation exists for the benefit of its permanent residents. "Permanent residence" is a defined concept for homestead exemption purposes, and should not be confused with mere physical presence or citizenship. Taxpayers, as recipients of temporary visas issued under federal law, admittedly did not qualify on the January 1, 2006, taxing date, as "permanent residents," pursuant to statute as well as this Court's decision in *Juarrero v. McNayr*, 157 So. 2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1963).

The question of first impression before this Court is whether their minor children qualified as "permanent residents," so as to entitle Taxpayers to the homestead exemption. While the homestead exemption statutes set forth criteria to assist property appraisers in determining the permanent residence of applicants/owners, there are no provisions that specifically address how appraisers are to ascertain the permanent residence of their legal or natural dependents.

The Third District held that a mere statement by Taxpayers indicating their intent that the subject property be their children's "permanent residence" was sufficient to qualify it for exemption. This ruling expressly rejects the settled reliance on common law governing this issue by both the Department of Revenue (which promulgates regulations in its role as the agency which supervises the administration of the statewide ad valorem taxation system), and the Attorney General (whose office interprets for the state's property appraisers and tax collectors issues pertaining to ad valorem taxation).

With respect to homestead exemption, the DOR and the Attorney General have historically applied the common law rule set forth in *Beekman v. Beekman*, 53 Fla. 858, 43 So. 923, 924 (Fla. 1907) and *Chisholm v. Chisholm*, 98 Fla. 1196, 125 So. 694, 702 (Fla. 1929). Simply put, the common law presumes that the domicile of a minor is that of his parents.

The Third District agreed that the concepts of "domicile" and "permanent "residence," as defined in the homestead exemption law, overlap. The Third District also acknowledged that the *Beekman* rule is "broadly accurate." Yet, without discussion, the court expressly invalidated Fla. Admin. Code R. 12D-7.014(2), which applies the *Beekman* rule to homestead exemptions, stating that it contravenes the requirements of Article VII, Section 6(a), Florida Constitution, which establishes the right to homestead exemption.

There is nothing in the record to rebut the presumption that the Andonie children's "permanent residence" is Honduras, the domicile of their parents. That the children are United States citizens is not relevant to the determination of their domicile for homestead exemption purposes, because neither citizenship nor physical presence are the tests. Their citizenship will enable them to establish permanent residency in the United States when they reach their majority. But so long as they are minors, living with their parents in an intact family, the usual rules of domicile apply to them, including the rule embodied in Section 196.012(18), which provides "[a] person may have only one permanent residence at a time; and, once a permanent residence is established in a foreign state or country, it is presumed to continue until the person shows that a change has occurred."

Given that no other standard for determining the "permanent residence" of a

minor exists in the homestead exemption laws, there was no basis for the Third

District's invalidation of the DOR's regulation based on Beekman. Further, the

court's holding that a property appraiser may not condition the receipt of

homestead exemption on the legal status of homeowners whose minor children

reside on the property throws into doubt how property appraisers are to reconcile

its decision with the Juarrero decision, the Beekman rule and the provisions of

Section 196.012(18).

It is difficult to discern whether the district court intends that its decision be

limited to the underlying facts of the case: a) homeowners who are not permanent

residents, but are otherwise legally in the United States and b) minor children who

are United States citizens. Therefore, this Court's interpretation of ad valorem tax

law under this factual scenario is necessary so that consistent applications of the

law result.

The Third District also disregarded the constitutional requirement that the

homestead exemption be implemented by legislation. In opining that Article VII,

Section 6(a) is self-executing, the decision invites challenges to the statutory and

regulatory framework under which entitlement to homestead exemptions is

determined. Further, the court's rejection of the "actual residency" criterion of

- 10 -

OFFICE OF COUNTY ATTORNEY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY TELEPHONE (305) 375-5151

Section 196.031, Florida Statutes – which occurred despite there being no issue or argument in this case regarding this portion of the statute – is premised on a nonexistent conflict between constitutional and statutory provisions that for years have been implemented harmoniously.

Florida's sixty-seven property appraisers are charged with ensuring that the preferential tax treatment afforded to permanent residents by the homestead exemption is extended in a uniform manner, and in strict compliance with its provisions. The Third District's opinion has created confusion in how entitlement to homestead exemptions is to be determined.

Property Appraiser requests that this Court quash the Third District's decision and reinstate his denial of the homestead exemption. Property Appraiser further requests that this Court hold, as a matter of law, that a minor child's permanent residence, for homestead exemption purposes, is the same as his parents' in the absence of evidence to the contrary.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Third District's decision interpreted both constitutional and statutory provisions regarding entitlement to homestead exemption from ad valorem taxation. Therefore, this Court's review will be *de novo*. *Gomez v. Vill. of Pinecrest*, 41 So. 3d 180, 185 (Fla. 2010) ("Because this case involves statutory"

interpretation, this Court's review is *de novo*."); *Zingale v. Powell*, 885 So. 2d 277, 280 (Fla. 2004) ("Although we take into consideration the district court's analysis on the issue, constitutional interpretation, like statutory interpretation, is performed *de novo*.") Further, citing *Powell*, this Court has confirmed that "[a] court's task in constitutional interpretation follows principles similar to the principles of statutory interpretation." *Jackson-Shaw Co. v. Jacksonville Aviation Auth.*, 8 So. 3d 1076, 1090 (Fla. 2008).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

TAXPAYERS' PROPERTY WAS NOT ENTITLED TO HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION FROM AD VALOREM TAXATION BECAUSE, ON THE JANUARY 1, 2006, TAXING DATE, NEITHER THE OWNERS NOR THEIR MINOR CHILDREN WERE "PERMANENT RESIDENTS" OF FLORIDA.

I. HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION LAWS PROVIDING RELIEF FROM AD VALOREM TAXATION MUST BE STRICTLY CONSTRUED.

With respect to qualifying homeowners, Florida law exempts a certain portion of the property's value in order to reduce the taxes owed. Taxpayers sought this reduction for the 2006 tax year, and it is *only* in this context that Property Appraiser is concerned with the permanent residence status of the Andonies and their minor children.

A homeowner does not have an absolute right to receive an ad valorem tax exemption with respect to his residence. *Zingale v. Powell*, 885 So. 2d at 281 (Fla.

2004), ("[A]rticle VII, section 6 ... requires that taxpayers establish the right thereto by following the procedures required by law."); *Horne v. Markham*, 288 So. 2d 196, 199 (Fla. 1973) ("[Article VII, Section 6] clearly provides that taxpayers who otherwise qualify shall be granted an exemption only 'upon establishment of the right thereto in the matter prescribed by law.")

Article VII, Section 6 (a), Florida Constitution, establishes the homestead exemption from ad valorem taxation, and provides

Every person who has the legal or equitable title to real estate and maintains thereon the permanent residence of the owner, or another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner, shall be exempt from taxation thereon ... upon establishment of the right thereto in the manner prescribed by law.⁵

Section 196.031, Florida Statutes, implements the Constitution in the following manner

Every person who, on January 1, has the legal title or beneficial title in equity to real property in the state and who resides thereon and in good faith makes the same his or her permanent residence, or the permanent residence of another or others legally or naturally dependent upon such person, is entitled to an exemption from all taxation, except for assessments for special benefits, ...as defined in s. 6, Art. VII of the State Constitution.

⁵ On the January 1, 2006, taxing date in this case, the provisions of Article VII, Section 6(a) exempted up to \$25,000 in residential value. Once the homestead exemption is established, Article VII, Section 4(c), Florida Constitution limits the percentage by which annual assessments of residential property can rise in subsequent years.

In determining that neither the Andonie parents nor the Andonie children were entitled to receive a homestead exemption on their residence for the 2006 tax year, Property Appraiser considered the statutes and regulations relevant to the circumstances presented. In addition to Section 196.031, Florida Statutes, the pertinent portions of the following provisions, which were in effect on the January 1, 2006, taxing date, governed the Property Appraiser's determination, with emphasis added:

- 1. § 196.012, Fla. Stat. Definitions:
 - (17) "Permanent resident" means a person who has established a permanent residence as defined in subsection (18).
 - (18) "Permanent residence" means that place where a person has his or her true, fixed, and permanent home and principal establishment to which, whenever absent, he or she has the *intention* of returning. A person may have only one permanent residence at a time; and, *once a permanent residence is established in a foreign state or country, it is presumed to continue until the person shows that a change has occurred.*
- 2. § 196.015, Fla. Stat.⁶ Permanent residency; factual determination by property appraiser:

_

There are several factors listed in Section 196.015, some of which have been amended in recent years. However subsection (4), the provision relevant to the Taxpayers because of their temporary visa status, remains the same. The applicability of the *Juarrero* decision to Taxpayers' situation precluded consideration of the other factors.

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