#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Case Number SC11-554 Lower Tribunal Case Nos. 3D09-3427, 07-39805

PEDRO J. GARCIA, as Property Appraiser of Miami-Dade County, Florida,

Petitioner,

v.

DAVID ANDONIE and ANA L. ANDONIE; and LISA ECHEVERRI, as Executive Director of the State of Florida Department of Revenue,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT TAXPAYERS DAVID ANDONIE AND ANA L. ANDONIE

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### DANIEL A. WEISS, ESQ.

TANNEBAUM WEISS, PL

Attorneys for Respondent-Taxpayers, DAVID ANDONIE and ANA L. ANDONIE

Museum Tower – Penthouse 2850

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The controlling constitutional mandate in this appeal is contained in article VII, section 6(a), Florida Constitution (1968). It provides in pertinent part as follows:

"Every person who has the legal or equitable title to real estate and maintains thereon the permanent residence of the owner, or another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner, shall be exempt from taxation thereon ...upon establishment of the right thereto in the manner prescribed by law." Art. VII, §6(a), Fla. Const. (1968).

The issue of the Andonies' entitlement to homestead exemption is resolved by the plain language of the Constitution quoted above. The Taxpayers, David and Ana Andonie, are undisputedly persons who have

the legal or equitable title to real estate <u>and maintain thereon the</u> <u>permanent residence of...another legally or naturally dependent</u> upon the owner.

Consequently, the property is entitled to homestead exemption.

In lucid clarion terms, the framers of the Florida Constitution have conferred homestead exemption in two separate circumstances. The first circumstance is where the owner is a permanent resident of the property. The second circumstance is where the owner is <u>not</u> a permanent resident of

the property, but someone naturally or legally dependent on the owner <u>is</u> a permanent resident of the property.

The present case deals not with the first circumstance but with the second. The Property Appraiser's reading of the Constitution conflates the two separate provisions, and makes them conjunctive instead of disjunctive. In so doing, the Property Appraiser collapses the two separate provisions and destroys their two independent spheres of operation. Indeed, as explained below, if, as the Property Appraiser argues with a straight face, infra beginning at 27, the property owner is required to be a permanent resident of the property in order to qualify it for homestead exemption, the question of permanent resident *vel non* of <u>another person</u> legally or naturally dependent upon the owner never arises because it is redundant, moot, meaningless, devoid of legal significance, otherwise jejune, and renders the entire second prong of article VII, section 6(a) superfluous.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THIS IS A ONE-ISSUE CASE. THE ISSUE IS WHETHER THE HOMESTEAD PROPERTY TAX PROVISION OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION MEANS WHAT IT SAYS. THE THIRD DISTRICT CORRECTLY RULED THAT IT DOES MEAN WHAT IT SAYS.

The controlling constitutional mandate in this case is contained in article VII, section 6(a), Florida Constitution (1968). It begins with the following mandate:

"Every person who has the legal or equitable title to real estate and maintains thereon the permanent residence of the owner, <u>or</u> another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner, <u>shall</u> be exempt from taxation thereon...upon establishment of right thereto in the manner prescribed by law."

Article VII, §6(a), Fla. Const. (1968).

The issue of entitlement to homestead exemption is resolved by application of the plain language of the Constitution quoted above to the undisputed facts in this case, without more. The Appellee-Taxpayers, David and Ana Andonie, are undisputedly persons who have

the legal or equitable to real estate and maintain thereon the permanent residence of...another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner[.]

Consequently, the property is entitled to homestead exemption. Language of a statute is conclusive, absent expressed legislative intent to the contrary. *In re Louis S. St. Laurent, II v. Ambrose*, 991 F. 2d 672, 678 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993).

In lucid clarion terms, the framers of the Florida Constitution, i.e., the people of the State of Florida themselves, have conferred homestead exemption in two separate circumstances. The first circumstance is where

the <u>owner</u> is a permanent resident of the property. The second circumstance is where the owner is <u>not</u> a permanent resident of the property, but someone naturally or legally dependent on the owner <u>is</u> a permanent resident of the property.

The present case deals not with the first circumstance but with the second. The Property Appraiser's reading of the Constitution conflates the two separate provisions, and makes them conjunctive instead of disjunctive. In so doing, the Property Appraiser collapses the two separate provisions and destroys their two independent spheres of operation.

The provision of the Florida Constitution at issue is the following:

"Every person who has the legal or equitable title to real estate and maintains thereon the permanent residence of the owner, or another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner, shall be exempt from taxation thereon ...upon establishment of the right thereto in the manner prescribed by law."

Article VII, §6(a), Fla. Const. (1968).

The Property Appraiser baldly asserts that the foregoing provision doesn't mean "every" person, but only "every" person other than one whom the Property Appraiser may deign to carve out due to his immigration status. For the benefit of the misguided Property Appraiser, the DOR has helpfully promulgated rule 12D-7.007(4) of the Florida Administrative Code. In pertinent part, 12D-7.007(4) provides as follows:

#### "Homestead Exemptions - Residence Requirement"

\* \* \*

"(4) A person not residing in a taxing unit but owning real property therein may claim such property as tax exempt under Section 6, Article VII of the State Constitution by reason of residence on the property of natural or legal dependents provided he can prove to the satisfaction of the property appraiser that he claims no other homestead tax exemption in Florida for himself or for others legally or naturally dependent upon him for support. It must also be affirmatively shown that the natural or legal dependents residing on the property which is claimed to be exempt by reason of a homestead are entirely or largely dependent upon the landowner for support and maintenance."

#### **ANALYSIS**

The Florida Constitution protects Florida homesteads in three distinct ways. *Snyder v. Davis, 699 So. 2d 999, 1001-02 (Fla. 1992).*<sup>2</sup> Article VII, section 6(a) of the Florida Constitution provides homesteads with an exemption from taxes. Id. This case concerns this, the first of these protections.

The current article VII, section 6(a) homestead property tax entitlement provision reads in pertinent part as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The other two homestead-type protections are as follows. Article X, sections 4(a) and 4(b) afford qualifying homestead property life-time and death-time exemptions from forced sale. Id. Article X, section 4(c) imposes restrictions on the devise of homestead property for the benefit of a surviving spouse or minor child. Id.

#### SECTION 6. Homestead exemptions —

(a) Every person who has the legal or equitable title to real estate and maintains thereon the permanent residence of the owner, or another legally or naturally dependent upon the owner, shall be exempt from taxation thereon, except assessments for special benefits, up to the assessed valuation of twenty-five thousand dollars and, for all levies other than school district levies, on the assessed valuation greater than fifty thousand dollars and up to seventy-five thousand dollars, upon establishment of right thereto in the manner prescribed by law.

Art. VII, §6(a), Fla. Const. (emphasis added by Third District). The plain language of article VII, section 6(a) provides that an owner of residential real estate in Florida is constitutionally entitled to an exemption from *ad valorem* taxation--more accurately, a reduction in the assessed value--under either of the following two separate and independent scenarios:

1. Where the owner of the property is a permanent resident on the property,

<u>or</u>

2. Where someone legally or naturally dependent on the owner is a permanent resident on the subject property.

See id.

Section 196.012, Florida Statutes (2006), defines "permanent residence" for purposes of this provision as follows:

(18) "Permanent residence" means that place where a person has his or her true, fixed, and permanent home and principal establishment to which, whenever absent, he or she has the intention of returning. A person may have only one permanent residence at a time; and, once a permanent residence is established in a foreign state or country, it is presumed to continue until the person shows that a change has occurred.

(Emphasis added by the Third District).<sup>3</sup>

In support of his motion for summary judgment in the trial court,

David Andonie swore by affidavit to the following:

#### **AFFIDAVIT OF DAVID ANDONIE**

The following affidavit of David Andonie is made for the purpose of supporting his application for homestead exemption from property taxation for 2006 for property identified by property tax folio number 24-4232-016-2730 ("subject property"):

- 1. My wife Ana and I bought a condominium for ourselves and our children in April, 2003. The condominium unit is located . . . .
- 2. I filed a homestead exemption application with respect to the subject property as of January 1, 2006. To the exclusion of all others, this is our home where in good faith we live. It is the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Chapter 196 of the Florida Statutes exists for the purpose of enabling those exemptions authorized by the Florida Constitution to be implemented by general law and providing guidance for the administration of exemptions from taxation. See, e.g., art. VII, § 3(a), Fla. Const.

residence of my wife and myself, and the permanent residence of our three U.S.-born children.

3. In this present summary judgment proceedings, my wife and I do not claim the right to homestead exemption based on our permanent residence at this location, but upon the fact that our three minor children, who are naturally and legally dependent upon my wife and me, live here on the subject property, which we as their parents and natural and legal guardians, make their home. For our children, this home is their permanent residence, where they live along with their mother and me.

\* \* \*

7. Because our three children are U.S.-born and are U.S. citizens, no one can lawfully tell them that they do not have the right to remain permanently in the United States. The subject property is the permanent residence of each of our three children, Nicholas, Luisa, and Kristen.

\* \* \*

9. I claim no other homestead tax exemption in Florida for myself nor for others naturally or legally dependent on me for support. All three of my children were, as of January 1, 2006, and through today, are entirely dependent on my wife and me for support and maintenance, living and permanently residing on the subject property. (R.34).

There is no evidence contradicting the factual assertions made by David Andonie in his affidavit, nor is there any evidence in the record from which the trial court or the Third District could conclude the affidavit was made other than in good faith.

## DOMICILE OF MINORS UNDER CURRENT FLORIDA AND U.S. LAW

Section 744.301, the Florida Guardianship Law, has, since 1974, conferred upon mother and father jointly the right to make decisions as the "natural guardians" of their own children and of their adopted children, during minority, for all purposes, including those issues so essential to the survival, present and future well-being, health, safety, welfare, and education of the child as:

- a. settlement of any claim or cause of action for damages to property or person, §744.301(2)(a);
- b. collection, receipt, management, disposition of proceeds of any such settlement, §744.301(2)(b);
- c. collection, receipt, management, disposition of any real or personal property distributed from an estate or trust, §744.301(2)(c).

Not without legal significance for the purpose of the present proceeding, a natural guardian is authorized to act for the benefit of the ward and to bind the ward by instrument so stating. §744.301(4), Fla. Stat. Self-evidently, a declaration of domicile to the effect that Mr. and Mrs. Andonie's three minor children born, living in, and citizens of Key

Biscayne, Florida, and the United States, falls squarely within the ambit of the Florida Guardianship Law.

Such decisions as the above-enumerated are crucial to all who act *in loco parentis*, whether they are co-parents, godparents, surrogates, guardians, guardians *ad litem*, legal residents or timed-out residents subject to possible deportation, or whether they are lawful or unlawful residents subject to leaving the country on short notice or otherwise, while their children, as lawful residents, citizens, permanent residents lawful stateschool scholarship winners, or who for other reasons may be minors entitled to remain in this country permanently or temporarily, while their parents may not enjoy that same right, for any one of a host of reasons.

In dissenting on dismissal of a petition to this Court as improvidently granted in *Dade County Property Appraiser v. Lisboa*, 737 So. 2d 1078 (Fla. 1999), Senior Justice Overton wrote as follows:

"I dissent. The district court of appeal certified the following question:

Can an alien residing in the United States pending his application for political asylum, satisfy the residency requirements contained within article VII, section 6 of the Florida Constitution and section 196.031(1) [\*3] Florida

Statutes, in order to qualify for Florida's homestead tax exemption?

In this instance, the property appraiser, while recognizing that a lawfully admitted permanent resident alien is entitled to a homestead exemption, determined that this alien who was lawfully in the country was not entitled to a homestead exemption because he was an alien who had a pending application for political asylum.

I believe it is a significant statewide issue for this Court to decide whether an appraiser can unilaterally decide which aliens who are lawfully in this country are entitled to the homestead exemption and which ones are not. Accordingly, I would accept jurisdiction."

Dade County Property Appraiser v. Lisboa, 737 So.2d at 1078.

While it is entirely clear that <u>Lisboa</u> implicated various interrelated features of federal immigration law, it is equally clear that article VII,

section 6(a) of the Florida Constitution contains no such complexification, is written in plain English, and does not call upon the 67 county property appraisers or the DOR – or former Justice Overton -- to weigh in on their opinion of public policy involving immigration.

Applying Florida law, whether of the statutory variety or an ordinary and customary usage standard, it cannot be gainsaid that the Honduran parents Mr. and Mrs. Andonie have adequately declared that whatever may become of their ability to remain in the United States in the future, they fully plan and intend for their U.S.-born children to "permanently resid[e]" in the United States.

## THE PROPERTY APPRAISER'S ANTEDILUVIAN AND OTHERWISE UNLAWFUL NOTIONS OF CHILDREN'S DOMICILES

As demonstrated above beyond peradventure, it has been established without even a scintilla of factual dispute that the Andonies have declared their Florida residence the domicile and "permanent residence" of their three minor children. The law firmly establishes the Andonies' right to do so.

Despite the Andonies' sworn assertions, the Property Appraiser asserts in these situations that the taxpayer-parents still cannot maintain an exemption through their children. The argument appears to be comprised of two thrusts. First, the Property Appraiser asserts the minor children's

domicile is dependent upon the domicile of the father, who is a non-Florida resident. Secondly, the Property Appraiser relies on the term "who resides thereon," as found in section 196.031(1)(a), to argue the statute requires the title owner to reside on the property permanently. As discussed by the Third District, neither argument has merit.

The Property Appraiser does not have the authority to adjudge in contravention of the declared intent of the parents and natural guardians, \$744.301, Florida Guardianship Law, of Nicholas, Luisa and Kristen that the permanent residence of the Andonies' Florida-born minor children is not Key Biscayne. To the contrary, Mr. and Mrs. Andonie possess legal authority to declare Florida the permanent residence of their Florida-born children, based on the following discussion of parental authority – i.e., parental authority law of the 21<sup>st</sup> century – not of 1907.

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